RECEIVED

Oct 09 2025

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM PICKENS COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
G.D. Morgan, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2024-001391

John Sloan, individually, and on behalf of all others similarly situated, and NOLAS Trading Co., Inc., Plaintiffs,

of which John Sloan, individually, and on behalf of all others similarly situated is the Appellant,

v.

Clemson University, and its Life Trustees E. Smyth McKissick III, David E. Dukes, Cheri M. Phyfer, Mark S. Richardson, William “Bill” C. Smith, Jr., Kim Wilkerson, and David H. Wilkins, Respondents.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

James G. Carpenter, S.C. Bar No. 1136

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. DO THE GOVERNING CLEMSON UNIVERSITY LIFE TRUSTEES VIOLATE THE SOUTH CAROLINA CONSTITUTION'S PROHIBITIONS AGAINST BOTH APPOINTMENT OF PUBLIC OFFICERS TO UNLIMITED TERMS AND AGAINST SERVICE OF PUBLIC OFFICERS FOR UNLIMITED TERMS?
- II. DOES COMPLYING WITH THE S.C. CONSTITUTION'S TERM LIMITS FOR PUBLIC OFFICERS IMPAIR THE OBLIGATION OF CONTRACTS?
- III. SHOULD PRINCIPLES OF EQUITABLE DEVIATION REQUIRE THE TRUSTEES TO SERVE TERMS OF SOME SPECIFIED PERIOD?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The late Edward D. Sloan, Jr. filed suit against Clemson University and its “Life Trustees” for violation of the South Carolina Constitution (R. at 58).¹ During the litigation, Edward D. Sloan Jr. died, and his son John Sloan joined his late father’s public interest litigation as a plaintiff (R. pp. 45-56).^{2 3} The individual Defendants are “Life Trustees,” or “successor trustees” of Clemson University’s board (R. p. 58).⁴ They are named as Defendants in their official capacities. Clemson University has 13 trustees, and 7 are “Life Trustees,” who have been serving for life (R. pp. 58-60).

Two Constitutional provisions forbid any state officer to be elected or appointed to office for life or for an indeterminate term. “**No person** may be elected or appointed to office in this State **for life or during good behavior**, but the **terms** of **all officers must be for some specified period** except officers in the militia.” S.C. Constitution, art. VI, § 1 (emphasis added). “**No person** shall be elected or appointed to office in this State **for life or during good behavior**, but the **terms** of **all officers shall be for some specified period**, except Notaries Public and officers in the Militia.” S.C. Constitution, art. XVII, §1.B (emphasis added).

Plaintiffs challenge the life-time appointments and service of the Life Trustees and seek to enforce the S.C. Constitution’s governing provisions.

On February 21, 2020, Plaintiffs petitioned the South Carolina Supreme Court to take this case in its original jurisdiction. The Court denied the Petition in an equally divided vote (R. pp. 20-32).⁵

¹ Complaint, par. 1.

² Form 4 Order entered July 27, 2021

³ Plaintiff NOLAS Trading Company has ceased doing business and has been dismissed as an Appellant.

⁴ Complaint, par. 4.

⁵ Order entered April 3, 2023, p. 5.

Plaintiffs filed suit in Greenville County Circuit Court (R. p. 24).⁶ Defendants moved to dismiss under SCRCF 12(b)(6), without filing an Answer (R. pp. 64-109).

Plaintiffs served discovery requests (R. pp. 150-153). In the Plaintiffs' Requests for Production of Documents, they requested that Defendants (R. pp. 152-153):

4. Produce any agreement among the Life Trustees or Successor Trustees relating or referring to their voluntarily termination of service.
5. Produce any communication from any Life Trustee or Successor Trustee, to the Board of Trustees or any other Trustee, dated from 1990 to the present, relating or referring to any Life Trustee or Successor Trustee's voluntary termination of service.
6. Produce a copy of any communication by or on behalf of the Board of Trustees, the Life Trustees or Successor Trustees to any State legislator addressing the length of the terms of service of the Life Trustees or Successor Trustees, and any response received from any State legislator.
7. Produce a copy of any communication between or among the Life Trustees or Successor Trustees addressing the length of the terms of service of the Life Trustees or Successor Trustees.
8. Produce a copy of any communication by or on behalf of the Board of Trustees, the Life Trustees or Successor Trustees to the Attorney General addressing the length of the terms of service of the Life Trustees or Successor Trustees, and any response received.

Defendants moved for a protective order asking that they not be required to respond to discovery requests until after the court had ruled on the Motions to Dismiss (R. pp. 122-139; Transcript, p. 27, ll. 21-24, R. p. 180, ll. 21-24). The Circuit Court granted the Protective Order (R. pp. 41-43). However, responses to these requests might have produced admissions and other statements that could have supported the legal claims.

In nearly identical Motions to Dismiss, the Defendants raised five grounds to the Greenville County Circuit Court (R. pp. 64-109): (1) Plaintiffs lack standing; (2) Plaintiffs failed

⁶ Order entered April 3, 2023, p. 5

to state a justiciable controversy; (3) the Court lacks subject matter jurisdiction; (4) improper venue; and (5) failure to state facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action (R. pp. 64-109).⁷

However instead of taking up the motion, the Greenville County Circuit Court transferred the litigation to the Pickens County Probate Court (R. pp. 33-40).⁸

Accordingly, the Pickens County Probate Court heard the Motions to Dismiss (R. pp. 20).⁹ The Court granted Plaintiffs public importance standing (R. pp. 25-27).¹⁰ The Court also ruled that Plaintiffs had stated a justiciable controversy (R. p. 27).¹¹ However, the Court ruled that the Plaintiffs had failed to state facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action and dismissed the case under SCRCP 12(b)(6) (R. pp. 27-32).¹²

Defendants had not yet filed an Answer or responded to the Plaintiffs' standard interrogatories or requests for production. Plaintiffs had received no opportunity to amend the complaint or conduct any discovery. This action did not benefit from the usual pretrial development, or the refining, perfecting, and maturing that ordinarily develops in the process of litigation. Even though the Probate Court ruled that this action raises issues of great public importance, the minimal factual record consists solely of Plaintiffs' initial, unamended Complaint.

Even so, the Probate Court dismissed the case **with prejudice** (R. pp. 20-32).

The Order of Dismissal contains several components: **First**, the Court ruled that the life trustees were not "public officers" within the meaning of the Constitution because they were not "elected or appointed" (R. pp. 28-29)¹³ **Second**, the Court found that the life trustees were not

⁷ Motions to Dismiss filed August 26, 2020

⁸ Order entered September 28, 2021, in Civil Action Number 2020-CP-23-03178.

⁹ Order entered April 3, 2023, p. 1.

¹⁰ Order entered April 3, 2023, pp. 6-8

¹¹ Order entered April 3, 2023, p. 8.

¹² Order entered April 3, 2023, pp. 8-13.

¹³ Order entered April 3, 2023, pp. 9-10.

“public officers” within the meaning of S.C. Code Ann. § 8-1-10 (R. p. 10).¹⁴ **Third**, the Court ruled that requiring the life trustees to comply with the Constitution would impair the obligation of contracts, meaning the terms of the Thomas G. Clemson Will, as accepted by the General Assembly (R. p. 30).¹⁵ The Court concluded: “For all these reasons, the Court agrees with Defendants that, as a matter of law, the Successor Trustees as established under the Clemson Will are constitutional and that Plaintiffs have failed to state facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action (R. p. 32).”¹⁶ The Court then dismissed the case with prejudice. *Id.*

The 7 life trustees constitute a majority of the 13 trustees on the Clemson University Board of Trustees (R. p. 60, par. 8). Accordingly, they have controlling authority on the Board. For 130 years, the life trustees have been making important management and governance decisions for the University, and for the last several years, they have been directing the expenditure of more than \$100 million a year of state taxpayer funds, while serving in violation of the Constitution (R. p. 58, par. 3). They have manifested every intention to continue serving unlimited terms.

Appellant contends that both Defendants’ appointments and Defendants’ service as life trustees violate the Constitution. Appellant contends that the life trustees are public officers, that they are serving in violation of the Constitution, that it is possible for the life or successor trustees to serve in compliance with both the will of Thomas G. Clemson and the Constitution, and if they can serve Constitutionally while meeting the purposes of the Will, they must do so.

¹⁴ Order entered April 3, 2023, p. 10.

¹⁵ Order entered April 3, 2023, p. 11.

¹⁶ Order entered April 3, 2023, p. 13.

Plaintiffs appealed the Probate Court's dismissal to the Circuit Court, and the Circuit Court affirmed the Probate Court and all of its reasoning (R. pp. 1-19). Appellant now appeals the decisions of the Probate Court and the Circuit Court.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The will of Thomas G. Clemson established Clemson University and provided for seven Life Trustees who constitute a majority on Clemson University's thirteen-member Board. The will provides:

The following named gentlemen, seven in number, shall be seven of the Board of Trustees, to wit: . . . , and the State, if it accepts the donation, shall never increase the Board of Trustees to a number greater than thirteen in all, **nor shall the duties of said board be taken away** or conferred upon any other man or body of men. The seven trustees appointed by me **shall always have the right**, and the **power is hereby given them** and their successors, which right the legislature shall never take away or abridge, to **fill all vacancies** which may occur **in their number by death**, resignation, refusal to act or otherwise. But the Legislature may provide, as it sees proper, for the appointment or election of the other six trustees, if it accepts the donation. And I do hereby request the seven trustees above named, or such of them **as may be living**, or may be willing to act, to meet as soon after my death as practicable, and organize, and at once to **fill all vacancies** that may have occurred, and to exert themselves to effectuate my purposes as herein set forth.

Last Will & Codicil of Thomas Green Clemson, Item 2 (emphasis added) (R. p. 141).

Accordingly, each originally named trustee served for life, or until he became unwilling. In addition, the Life Trustees are a self-perpetuating public body. When one Life Trustee dies or resigns, the remaining Life Trustees nominate and elect a replacement.

Thomas G. Clemson died on April 6, 1888. The General Assembly enacted the Act of Acceptance November 27, 1889, accepting the bequest "subject to the terms and conditions of the said will." *Id.*, Section 1. Statutes of South Carolina, Vol. XX, p. 277 (R. p. 21).¹⁷

The Act of Acceptance states, "**That said college shall be under the management and control of a board of thirteen trustees**, composed of the seven members nominated by said will and their successors and six members to be elected by the Legislature in Joint Assembly every

¹⁷ Order entered April 3, 2023, p. 2.

fourth year after the first election.” *Id.* Section 3 (emphasis added). S.C. Code Ann. § 59-119-40. Accordingly, the governing board consists of seven life trustees, serving indeterminate terms, and six trustees serving four-year terms (R. pp. 57-61; pp. 140-147)

Furthermore, the will and the Act of Acceptance provide that the trustees of Clemson University will provide “management and control” for the University (R. pp. 140-147). S.C. Code Ann. § 59-119-40.

The board of trustees . . . shall prescribe the course of study, declare the professorships, elect the professors and define their duties and fix their salaries and make all rules and regulations for the government of the university. It may employ such superintendent, head workman and laborers for the farm, shops and grounds as may be necessary and fix their compensation.

S.C. Code Ann. § 59-119-50.

A few years after the board’s inception, South Carolina had adopted the Constitution of 1895 that disallowed terms of public service for lifetime or during good behavior. Accordingly, the current life trustees were appointed to service in violation of the South Carolina Constitution, and life trustees have been serving in violation of the South Carolina Constitution since its adoption in 1895 (R. p. 60).¹⁸ These life trustees govern the University and the city of Clemson, making major decisions for the University and the city, and overseeing the expenditure of more than \$100 million a year of taxpayer funds in violation of the S.C. Constitution.

Over the past 130 years, these trustees’ decisions have transformed the University from the “Clemson Agricultural College of South Carolina” to a broader, liberal arts “Clemson University.” These trustees have concluded the emphasis on military service, opened admission to women students, opened admission to African-American students, undertaken significant building projects, and overseen the exponential growth in the student body, the faculty, and the

¹⁸ Complaint, par. 13.

administration and the increased national stature of its sports programs. All these decisions exercised the sovereign authority of the State of South Carolina. Accordingly, these life trustees have been serving as public officers. In fact, under the governance of the trustees, Clemson University expended more than \$123 million in State public funds in fiscal year 2018, and more than \$136 million in fiscal year 2019 (R. p. 58).¹⁹ The life trustees are “public officers,” and they serve terms of service which are not for “some specified period” in violation of the Constitution. Accordingly, their **appointment** is unconstitutional, and their **service** is unconstitutional.

¹⁹ Complaint, par. 3.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Circuit Court ruled: “On appeal from the final order of the probate court, the circuit court should apply the same standard of review that the Supreme Court or Court of Appeals would apply on appeal. In re Est. of Boynton, 355 S.C. 299, 302, 584 S.E.2d 154, 155 (Ct.App. 2003)” (Order entered July 31, 2024, p. 6, R. p. 6).

When reviewing the dismissal of an action pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6), SCRCP, **the appellate court applies the same standard of review as the trial court.** *Doe v. Marion*, 373 S.C. 390, 395, 645 S.E.2d 245, 247 (2007). If the facts alleged and inferences reasonably deducible from the allegations set forth in the complaint, viewed in the light most favorable to the plaintiff, **entitle him to relief on any theory,** dismissal under Rule 12(b)(6) is improper. *Id.* **The complaint should not be dismissed merely because the court doubts the plaintiff will prevail in the action.** *Id.* at 395, 645 S.E.2d at 248.

* * *

When reviewing a motion to dismiss for failure to state facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action, **the pleadings must be construed liberally,** and all well pled **facts must be presumed true.** *Charleston County School Dist. v. Harrell*, 393 S.C. 552, 557, 713 S.E.2d 604, 607 (2011).

Doe v. Bishop of Charleston, 407 S.C. 128, 134, 754 S.E.2d 494, 497-98 (2014) (footnotes omitted) (emphasis added).

ARGUMENTS

I. GOVERNING CLEMSON UNIVERSITY LIFE TRUSTEES VIOLATE THE SOUTH CAROLINA CONSTITUTION'S PROHIBITIONS AGAINST BOTH APPOINTMENT OF PUBLIC OFFICERS TO UNLIMITED TERMS AND AGAINST SERVICE OF PUBLIC OFFICERS FOR UNLIMITED TERMS.

Although recognizing the great public importance of the S.C. Constitution's provisions governing appointment to and service for unlimited terms of service by public officials and the need for guidance on these provisions, the Probate Court ruled that the Complaint fails to state facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action under SCRCP 12(b)(6). The Circuit Court affirmed. These rulings were in error.

Appellant alleges that the life trustees were appointed in violation of the S.C. Constitution which prohibits terms for life or S.C. public officers.

"No person shall be elected or appointed to office in this State **for life or during good behavior**, but the **terms of all officers shall be for some specified period**, except Notaries Public and officers in the Militia." S.C. Constitution, art. XVII, §1.B

"No person may be **elected or appointed** to office in this State for life or during good behavior, but the **terms of all officers must be for some specified period** except officers in the militia." S.C. Constitution, art. VI, § 1 (emphasis added).

The life trustees have been serving in violation of these provisions, while overseeing the expenditure of more than \$100 million a year in taxpayer funds. These allegations of unconstitutional conduct state facts sufficient to constitute a constitutional violation.

A. The governing Clemson University life trustees are "public officers," under the well-recognized South Carolina common law definition.

Although S.C. Constitution, art. XVII, §1.B, art. VI, § 1 do not define the term "officers" or "office," the S.C. Supreme Court has ruled that when an enacted law does not define a term within its provisions, the General Assembly is presumed to have intended the common law

definition of the term. *Coakley v. Tidewater Constr. Corp.*, 194 S.C. 284, 288, 9 S.E.2d 724, 726 (1940). Likewise, the General Assembly is presumed to be aware of the common law. *Caughman v. Columbia YMCA*, 212 S.C. 337, 344, 47 S.E.2d 788, 791 (1948) (cited for guidance in *State v. Bridgers*, 329 S.C. 11, 14, 495 S.E.2d 196, 197-98 (1997) (because Highway Patrol officers “are charged with the discretionary exercise of the sovereign power,” they are public officials)).²⁰

As used in these S.C. Constitution provisions which Appellant seeks to enforce, the South Carolina common law defines “**public officer**.”

We have held that a **public officer** is “[o]ne who is charged by law with duties involving an exercise of some part of the sovereign power, either small or great, in the performance of which the public is concerned, and which are continuing, and not occasional or intermittent.”

Sanders v. Belue, 78 S.C. 171, 174, 58 S.E. 762, 763 (1907) (emphasis added). In applying this definition to the trustees serving indefinite terms on Clemson’s governing board, four questions arise. Are the Clemson trustees:

1. **charged by law**
2. **with duties involving an exercise of some part of the sovereign power (either small or great)**
3. **in the performance of which the public is concerned**
4. **and which are continuing, and not occasional or intermittent.**

1. **The Clemson trustees fall within the S.C. common law definition of “public officer” as defined in *Belue*, because they *are* charged by the Act of Acceptance and the statutes that assign powers to the trustees to manage and control Clemson, a state university and municipality.**

First, as the Court ruled, the first element of the definition of “public officer,” that the officer be “**charged by law**,” applies to the life trustees serving on Clemson’s governing board.

Sanders v. Belue, 78 S.C. 171, 174, 58 S.E. 762, 763 (1907) (emphasis added). **The Act of**

²⁰ In *Bridgers*, the Court addressed the common law definition of “public official” and quoted and drew guidance from the common law definition of “public officer” recognized in *State v. Belue*. In the case at bar, the *Belue* Court’s recognition of the common law definition of “public officer” applies more exactly to art. XVII, §1.B Section and art. VI, § 1 of the S.C. Constitution which govern “public officers” and which Appellant seeks to enforce.

Acceptance states, “That said college shall be under the management and control of a board of thirteen trustees.” *Id.* Section 3 (emphasis added). S.C. Code Ann. § 59-119-40. Statutes of South Carolina, Vol. XX, p. 277.

In addition, the South Carolina Code sets out many of the Board’s responsibilities that demonstrate that the Trustees are “charged. By law” as public officers. Title 59, chapter 119 governs Clemson University. Section 1 governs matters including organization, powers, property, income and charges the trustees by law to manage and control oversight of certain duties with some limitations

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