THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM PICKENS COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
The Honorable G.D. Morgan, Jr., Circuit Judge

Appellate Case No. 2024-001391
Case No. 2023-CP-39-00416

John Sloan, individually, and on behalf of all others
similarly situated, and NOLAS Trading Co., Inc.,
Plaintiffs,

of which John Sloan, individually, and on behalf of all
others similarly situated is the

Appellant,

v.

Clemson University, and its Life Trustees E. Smyth
McKissick III, David E. Dukes, Cheri M. Phyfer,
Mark S. Richardson, William “Bill” C. Smith, Jr., Kim
Wilkerson, and David H. Wilkins,

Respondents

INITIAL JOINT BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

C. Mitchell Brown

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

received the relief sought here and, regardless, the Attorney General would be the proper party to protect the interests of the public at large with regard to a charitable trust, not Appellant.

D. This Court should affirm the lower courts' well-reasoned holdings.

The lower courts correctly found that, as a matter of law, the Successor Trustee positions established under the Will and their terms do not run afoul of the South Carolina Constitution and that, as a result, Appellant failed to state facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action. Therefore, the Probate Court properly granted Respondents' motions to dismiss pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6), SCRCPP, and this Court should affirm for the same reasons as the Circuit Court.

II. Appellant's arguments regarding the applicability of the doctrine of equitable deviation are not preserved.

As the Circuit Court noted, Appellant did not raise the doctrine of equitable deviation until his reply brief in the appellate proceedings. Appellant did not state a claim for equitable deviation in his Complaint, raise it in his briefing or argument to the Probate Court, or raise it in his opening brief to the Circuit Court.¹⁵ Therefore, it is not preserved for review by this Court. *See Staubes v. City of Folly Beach*, 339 S.C. 406, 412, 529 S.E.2d 543, 546 (2000); *Easterling v. Burger King Corp.*, 416 S.C. 437, 452-53, 786 S.E.2d 443, 451-452 (Ct. App. 2016).

Regardless, as the Circuit Court correctly found, application of equitable deviation would not be appropriate. This doctrine "permits deviation from a term of the trust if, owing to circumstances not known to the settlor and not anticipated by him, compliance would defeat or

¹⁵ Appellant contends that Respondents raised the doctrine below, placing it at issue. (Br. of Appellant 24.) This is not accurate. Respondents cited *S.C. Dep't of Mental Health v. McMaster*, 372 S.C. 175, 183, 642 S.E.2d 552, 556 (2007) and *Epworth Children's Home v. Beasley*, 365 S.C. 157, 616 S.E.2d 710 (2005) only to support the propositions that: (1) the General Assembly lacks the power to terminate or alter a charitable trust and this ability is reserved to a court of equity and (2) the Attorney General is tasked with representing the interests of the general public for charitable trusts. Respondents have *never* advanced the argument at any point in this case that the doctrine of equitable deviation should apply to modify the trust.

substantially impair the accomplishment of the purposes of the trust.” *Epworth Children’s Home v. Beasley*, 365 S.C. 157, 169, 616 S.E.2d 710, 716–717 (2005). The court’s authority to deviate from the terms of the trust is where it is necessary “to carry out the settlor’s intent,” *All Saints Par., Waccamaw v. Protestant Episcopal Church in the Diocese of S.C.*, 358 S.C. 209, 227, 595 S.E.2d 253, 263 (Ct. App. 2004), or “carry out the purposes thereof.” *Furman University v. McLeod*, 238 S.C. 475, 490, 120 S.E.2d 865, 872 (1961). Here, modifying the trust in the manner advanced by Appellants is not necessary to carry out Thomas Green Clemson’s intent or the purpose of the trust and, in fact, it would directly contradict it.

Furthermore, Appellant is not a proper party entitled to seek equitable deviation. Aside from the Trustees, the only proper party who could raise equitable deviation would be the Attorney General. *See Beasley*, 365 S.C. at 164 n.3, 616 S.E.2d at 714 n.3 (noting that the Attorney General represents the interests of the public at large).

Therefore, Appellant’s equitable deviation argument is not preserved and, even it was, the doctrine is not applicable here as the Circuit Court correctly held. This Court should affirm.

III. As an additional sustaining ground, this Court may affirm the dismissal due to lack of subject matter jurisdiction.

The lower courts found that Appellant had public importance standing and presented a justiciable controversy. However, as Respondents argued in their motions to dismiss and briefing below, Appellant has not met his burden of establishing either of these issues. Therefore, lack of subject matter jurisdiction represents an additional sustaining ground.

A. Appellant lacks standing.

Despite the lower courts’ finding on this issue, Respondents maintain that Appellant has not established his standing to bring this suit and thus the Court lacks subject matter jurisdiction. *See Anders v. S.C. Parole & Cmty. Corrs. Bd.*, 279 S.C. 206, 211, 305 S.E.2d 229, 231 (1983)

(noting that courts have no subject matter jurisdiction when a party lacks standing).¹⁶ Standing is a threshold question that must be answered before analyzing the merits of a claim. *See ATC South, Inc. v. Charleston Cnty.*, 380 S.C. 191, 194, 669 S.E.2d 337, 339 (2008). The Probate Court correctly determined that Appellant lacks constitutional, statutory, or taxpayer standing. However, it determined that Appellant has public importance standing. This Court may affirm based on its independent finding of a lack of standing if it disagrees with the Probate Court’s determination.

1. South Carolina law and policy demonstrate that public importance standing is a narrow exception.

Public importance standing is a judicially recognized exception recognizing that the “standing rules may be relaxed when the case involves a matter of wide public importance and resolution of the case is needed for future guidance affecting the public interest, not merely the interests of private litigants.” *Eidson v. S.C. Dep’t of Educ.*, 444 S.C. 166, 177, 906 S.E.2d 345, 350 (2024).¹⁷ It is an exception to the “general rule” that “a litigant must have a personal stake in the subject matter of the litigation.” *Sloan v. Sanford*, 357 S.C. 431, 434, 593 S.E.2d 470, 472 (2004). However, “[c]ourts must cautiously balance competing interests—the citizenry’s need to hold public officials accountable for alleged injustices and ‘the concomitant integrity of

¹⁶ Although standing is often discussed in terms of subject matter jurisdiction, South Carolina courts will also occasionally dismiss an action for lack of standing without any reference to subject matter jurisdiction. Under either approach, dismissal is warranted.

¹⁷ Public importance standing was judicially created—it was not a product of the Constitution, statute, or the Supreme Court’s rulemaking authority. Although the Supreme Court has the power to promulgate rules governing court administration, the General Assembly must review rules “governing the practice and procedure of all courts of the State.” S.C. Const. Art. V, §4.A.; S.C. Code Ann. § 14-3-940. As the Supreme Court has recognized, it lacks the authority to “promulgate a procedural rule for future cases by simply issuing an opinion.” *State v. Beaty*, 423 S.C. 26, 41, 813 S.E.2d 502, 510 (2018). Although Respondents recognize that this Court cannot ignore this judicially created standing because of binding precedent, they assert that “public importance standing” is nevertheless an unconstitutional conferral of standing and will move for leave to argue against precedent if this matter finds its way to the Supreme Court.

government action’—to determine whether the issue presented is ‘inextricably connected to the public need for court resolution for future guidance.’” *S.C. Pub. Int. Found. v. Wilson*, 437 S.C. 334, 341-42, 878 S.E.2d 891, 895 (2022). “Only then can the issue ‘transcend[] a purely private matter and rise[] to the level of public importance.’” *Id.* (quoting *ATC*, 380 S.C. at 199, 669 S.E.2d at 341). Importantly, public importance standing is not without limit under South Carolina precedent. The Supreme Court has noted that courts must be “cautious” in applying the exception lest it “swallow the [general rule of standing].” *S.C. Pub. Interest Found. v. S.C. Transp. Infrastructure Bank*, 403 S.C. 640, 646, 744 S.E.2d 521, 524 (2013).

In light of these concerns, the Supreme Court has imposed a number of limitations on the exception over the years. First, for public importance standing to be conferred, the action must raise an issue of public importance. *Sanford*, 357 S.C. at 434, 593 S.E.2d at 472. Second, as noted above, even if the action raises such an issue, there must be some need for *future guidance*. See, e.g., *ATC South, Inc.*, 380 S.C. at 199, 699, S.E.2d at 341. Third, the action must typically be brought against a government entity or a public official in their official capacity. See, e.g., *S.C. Transp. Infrastructure Bank*, 403 S.C. at 644, 744 S.E.2d at 523 (action against South Carolina Transportation Infrastructure Bank and legislators in their official capacities); *Sanford*, 357 S.C. at 434, 593 S.E.2d at 472 (action against the Governor). Fourth, there must be *no other adequate remedy* for addressing the issue raised in the action. See *Jowers v. South Carolina Dep’t of Health and Envtl. Control*, 423 S.C. 343, 366, 815 S.E.2d 446, 458 (2018); *Carnival Corp. v. Historic Ansonborough Neighborhood Ass’n*, 407 S.C. 67, 81, 753 S.E.2d 846, 853 (2014) (finding the public importance exception inapplicable where other parties could assert a similar action).

In addition to these limitations, the Supreme Court has held that competing policy concerns are the most significant factor in determining the application of the exception. *Carnival Corp.*, 407

S.C. at 80, 753 S.E.2d at 853. Weighing in favor of its application is the recognition that “[c]itizens must be afforded access to the judicial process to address alleged injustices.” *Id* (quoting *Sanford*, 357 S.C. at 434, 593 S.E.2d at 472). Weighing against its application is the understanding that “standing cannot be granted to every individual who has a grievance against a public official. Otherwise, public officials would be subject to numerous lawsuits at the expense of both judicial economy and the freedom from frivolous lawsuits.” *Id*.

The Supreme Court provided further guidance on public importance standing in *Jowers* in examining the applicability of the exception to a challenge to the registration provisions of the Surface Water Withdrawal Act. 423 S.C. at 348, 815 S.E.2d at 449. The plaintiffs in that case claimed that provisions of the act constituted an unconstitutional taking, violated due process, and violated the public trust doctrine. *Id*. In rejecting the plaintiffs’ theory of public importance standing for the taking and due process claims, the court emphasized that there was no need for future guidance on the issue of the allocation of riparian rights. 423 S.C. at 360, 815 S.E.2d at 360. The court noted that the alleged injustice in the case was entirely hypothetical—that “at some point in the future the State may fail to protect against currently nonexistent unreasonable uses of surface water, which in turn could become so severe that the State’s inaction amounts to a violation of its responsibilities to protect the public trust.” 423 S.C. at 365-66, 815 S.E.2d at 458. Weighing the competing policy concerns in the case, the court reasoned that the plaintiffs’ interest in judicial process carried very little weight because the state already had a duty to protect against hypothetical future unreasonable uses. 423 S.C. at 366, 815 S.E.2d at 458. Consequently, it determined that the exception was inapplicable. *Id*.

The Supreme Court’s decision in *S.C. Pub. Int. Found. v. Wilson*, 437 S.C. 334, 342, 878 S.E.2d 891, 895 (2022) is also instructive. In that case, the Supreme Court found that the plaintiff

was entitled to public importance standing in a matter involving disbursement of state funds. Unlike this case, however, in *Wilson* plaintiff contended that the Attorney General was “*improperly* disburs[ing] state settlement funds,” which the Supreme Court recognized was an issue of public importance. *Id.* (emphasis added). There was also a need for future guidance in *Wilson* because the issue of the Attorney General’s authority to enter into contingency fee arrangements with private law firms like the one at issue in that case would “inevitably arise again in the future” because there were seven other active retention agreements between the Attorney General and private law firms. *Id.*

2. The applicable factors weigh against conferring public importance standing to Appellant under these unique facts.

Appellant’s Complaint contains no specific allegations supporting application of the exception and instead just asserts that it should apply because the case raises an issue of public importance. For this reason alone, dismissal was appropriate.

Furthermore, the factors for attaining public importance standing are not met as a matter of law. First, like in *Jowers*, there are alternative mechanisms by which the issues in this case can be addressed. As noted above, Clemson University is a charitable trust, and the Attorney General is the proper party to protect the interests of the public with regard to charitable trusts. *Beasley*, 365 S.C. at 164 n.3, 616 S.E.2d at 714 n.3. The Attorney General, in fact, has the “*duty* to represent the unspecified charitable beneficiaries,” and serves as “protector, supervisor, and enforcer of charitable trusts.” *Wilson v. Dallas*, 403 S.C. 411, 431, 446-67, 743 S.E.2d 746, 757, 765-66 (2013) (emphasis added). Because of Clemson University’s status as a charitable trust, the Attorney General has the unique—and exclusive—role of protecting the interests of the public. Appellant’s interest in the judicial process carries little, if any, weight as a result since there is no need for them to vindicate a right on behalf of the public.

Second, like in *Jowers* and unlike in *Wilson*, there is no need for future guidance on this issue. *See Jowers*, 423 S.C. at 360, 815 S.E.2d at 360. Here, Appellant’s Complaint challenges the constitutionality of a 135-year-old legislative act. The likelihood of this situation—a bequest to create a new public university if the State agrees to its terms (subject to the Chief Justice’s approval), an Act of Acceptance by the State, the approval of the Chief Justice in a written opinion, the subsequent adoption of a new State Constitution, and a lawsuit being filed 130 years later to mount a constitutional challenge—occurring in the future is exceedingly unlikely. There is simply no need for future guidance under these facts. *See Bodman v. State*, 403 S.C. 60, 68, 742 S.E.2d 363, 367 (2013) (explaining that the court does not sit as “a Council of Revision, conferring on itself the power to invalidate laws at the behest of anyone who disagrees with them” (quoting *Ariz. Christian Sch. Tuition Org. v. Winn*, 563 U.S. 125, 146 (2011))); *Carnival Corp.*, 407 S.C. at 81, 753 S.E.2d at 853 (noting that the courts are not “bodies for the resolution of public policy and generalized grievances”).

Third, as detailed above, the Successor Trustees are not “public officials” for the purposes of the public importance exception to standing.

Finally, the competing policy factors in this case weigh against the application of the exception. Here, like in *Jowers*, Appellant’s interest in the judicial process carries little weight given: (1) the Attorney General’s authority and duty to supervise charitable trusts and (2) the lack of any injustice in the operation of a public trust—duly approved by the General Assembly and the Chief Justice of South Carolina—that has operated under the same structure since 1889. In contrast, the Successor Trustees’ interest in avoiding “frivolous lawsuits” is high—Appellant is nothing more than an ordinary citizen asserting a generalized grievance against Clemson University and its Successor Trustees.

Weighing these considerations, this Court may properly choose to exercise caution and decline to find that the public importance exception applies in this case. Therefore, lack of standing represents an additional sustaining ground for affirming the Probate Court's dismissal.¹⁸

B. There is no justiciable controversy.

The Probate Court also found that Appellant presented a justiciable controversy. Although Appellant invoked the Court's subject matter jurisdiction under the Declaratory Judgment Act, the Court lacks jurisdiction under the act where there is no justiciable controversy. *See Tourism Expenditure Review Comm. v. City of Myrtle Beach*, 403 S.C. 76, 81, 742 S.E.2d 371, 374 (2013). The lack of any justiciable controversy represents another additional sustaining ground for affirming the dismissal.

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